

Experimental Evidence on the Use of Biomethane from Rum Distillery Waste and Sargassum Seaweed as an Alternative Fuel for Transportation in Barbados

Legena Henry Brittney McKenzie Aria Goodridge Karyl Pivott Joshua Austin Kristen Lynch Shamika Spencer Felicia Cox Nikolai Holder Renique Murray Veronica R Prado Pauline Ravillard Energy Division/ Infrastructure and Energy Department

> TECHNICAL NOTE Nº IDB-TN-02183

Experimental Evidence on the Use of Biomethane from Rum Distillery Waste and Sargassum Seaweed as an Alternative Fuel for Transportation in Barbados

Legena Henry Brittney McKenzie Aria Goodridge Karyl Pivott Joshua Austin Kristen Lynch Shamika Spencer Felicia Cox Nikolai Holder Renique Murray Veronica R Prado Pauline Ravillard



Cataloging-in-Publication data provided by the Inter-American Development Bank Felipe Herrera Library

Experimental evidence on the use of biomethane from rum distillery waste and sargassum seaweed as an alternative fuel for transportation in Barbados / Legena Henry, Brittney McKenzie, Aria Goodridge, Karyl Pivott, Joshua Austin, Kristen Lynch, Shamika Spencer, Felicia Cox, Nikolai Holder, Renique Murray, Veronica R. Prado, Pauline Ravillard.

p. cm. — (IDB Technical Note ; 2183)

Includes bibliographic references.

1. Biogas-Barbados. 2. Methane as fuel-Barbados. 3. Sargassum-Barbados. 4. Fuel switching-Barbados. 5. Rum industry-Waste disposal-Barbados. 6. Renewable energy sources-Barbados. I. Henry, Legena. II. McKenzie, Brittney. III. Goodridge, Aria. IV. Pivott, Karyl. V. Austin, Joshua. VI. Lynch, Kristen. VII. Spencer, Shamika. VIII. Cox, Felicia. IX. Holder, Nikolai. X. Murray, Renique. XI. Prado, Veronica R. XII. Ravillard, Pauline. XIII. Inter-American Development Bank. Energy Division. XIV. Series. IDB-TN-2183

JEL Codes: R41, N7, Q43, Q16, Q54, Z32 Keywords: Climate change, CO2 emissions, Transportation, Biofuel, Sargassum seaweed, Barbados

http://www.iadb.org

Copyright © 2021 Inter-American Development Bank. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons IGO 3.0 Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives (CC-IGO BY-NC-ND 3.0 IGO) license (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/igo/</u> <u>legalcode</u>) and may be reproduced with attribution to the IDB and for any non-commercial purpose. No derivative work is allowed.

Any dispute related to the use of the works of the IDB that cannot be settled amicably shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the UNCITRAL rules. The use of the IDB's name for any purpose other than for attribution, and the use of IDB's logo shall be subject to a separate written license agreement between the IDB and the user and is not authorized as part of this CC-IGO license.

Note that link provided above includes additional terms and conditions of the license.

The opinions expressed in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Inter-American Development Bank, its Board of Directors, or the countries they represent.



Corresponding author: Legena Henry

Experimental Evidence on the Use of Biomethane from Rum Distillery Waste and Sargassum Seaweed as an Alternative Fuel for Transportation in Barbados

Legena Henry¹, Brittney McKenzie², Aria Goodridge³, Karyl Pivott², Joshua Austin⁴, Kristen Lynch⁴, Shamika Spencer², Felicia Cox⁵, Nikolai Holder², Renique Murray⁶ Veronica R Prado, and Pauline Ravillard⁷ *

ABSTRACT

This paper presents an alternative to the current use of gasoline and diesel for transportation in Barbados. By relying on experimental evidence, it shows that biomethane emanating from the combination of Sargassum seaweed that is found on the seashores of the country with wastewater from rum distillery production can be used to produce an alternative transportation fuel. If implemented successfully, this alternative combustion method can avoid as much as 1 million metric tons of CO_2 emissions every year in the country. These findings have important implications for policymakers. First, they can contribute to the national objective of becoming fossil fuel free by 2030 and diversifying the energy matrix. Second, this alternative fuel can improve resilience to natural catastrophes, complementing the transition to renewables and diversification of the sector. Third, the impact on the tourism industry is expected to be high and positive, as the Sargassum seaweed has been declared a national emergency due to its prevalence on beach tourism spots.

JEL Codes: R41, N7, Q43, Q16, Q54, Z32

Keywords: Climate change, CO2 emissions, Transportation, Biofuel, Sargassum seaweed, Barbados

⁷ Energy Division, Inter-American Development Bank, Washington DC.

¹ Corresponding author. Department of Computer Science, Mathematics and Physics, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of the West Indies Cave Hill, Barbados.

² Department of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of the West Indies Cave Hill, Barbados.

³ Department of Physics, Faculty of Science and Technology, The University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica.

⁴ Department of Meteorology, University of the West Indies Cave Hill, Barbados.

⁵ Barbados National Oil Company.

⁶ Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of the West Indies, St. Augustine, Trinidad and Tobago.

^{*} The authors would like to thank Michelle Hallack and Mauricio Tolmasquim from the Energy Division of the Inter-American Development Bank for their valuable comments, as well as the following organizations for granting us access to their expertise and facilities in the writing process of the present note: Barbados National Oil Company, West Indies Central Sugar Cane Breeding Station, Mount Gay Rum Distillery, Foursquare Rum Distillery, West Indies Rum Distillery, Mechanical Engineering Department at the University of the West Indies, St. Augustine Campus.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	
2.	The call for a transition from fossil fuel to biofuel	
2.1	Exposure to natural disasters and infrastructure resilience in the Caribbean	6
2.2	2 Sargassum seaweed as an alternative to sugar cane	
2.3	3 The success of CNG vehicles through an international lens	
3.	Preliminary emissions estimation and experimental set-up	14
3.1	The potential effect of biomethane in reducing CO ₂ emissions	14
3.2	2 Experimental set-up for the anaerobic digestion	
4.	Results	
4.	Results from samples	
4.2	2 Application of the results to the case of Barbados	22
5.	Conclusions	
6.	Appendices	
Refe	rences	

1. Introduction

Barbados has recently seen a surge in households' use of appliances, which has led to an increase in their use of electricity, despite a general decrease in overall total energy usage (Howard 2020). Similarly to other small island developing states (henceforth SIDS), Barbados depends considerably on imported fossil fuels for energy consumption. For instance, between 1998 and 2009, oil importation climbed from 7 percent to 20 percent due to increased energy consumption, surpassing food and beverages, and continues to do so (Moore 2011). Currently, total energy consumption per capita is equivalent to 5.03 barrels of oil equivalent (bbl) per person per year in Barbados (U.E.S 2017) and the country imports 35,000 bbl to 40,000 bbl of ultra-low sulfur diesel and unleaded gasoline up to twice a month, depending on local demand (Cox 2019). The total daily diesel consumption ranges from 1,125 to 1,300 tons, with a total daily gasoline consumption ranging from 1,900 tons to 2,500 tons (Moore et al. 2016).

This dependency on imported fossil fuel is problematic for two reasons. On the one hand, Barbados' high reliance on imported oil suggests vulnerability to world commodity prices and to their shocks. As a result, the government of Barbados recently published a National Energy Policy (Ministry of Energy and Water Resources 2019) that highlights its commitment to becoming fossil fuel free by the year 2030, calling for the diversification of its energy sources. On the other hand, prevalent fossil fuel deployment in Barbados is aligned to the worldwide energy consumption practices that have led to climate change, to which Barbados is particularly vulnerable (York et al. 2019; Johnson et al. 2019; Tang et al. 2020; Jamshidi et al. 2020; Baes et al. 1977). Indeed, over the past four years, climate change has led to the most catastrophic and destructive Atlantic hurricane seasons in the Caribbean region (Robinson et al. 2019; Moulton et al. 2019; Keelings et al. 2019; Zegarra et al. 2020; Shultz et al. 2020; Carroll et al., 2019).

One of the major contributors to the carbon footprint in Barbados and in the Caribbean is the widespread regional use of fossil fuels, not only for electricity generation, but also for transportation (Sheinbaum-Pardo et al. 2012; Gay et al. 2018; Cox 2019).

In 2015, roughly a fifth of total Caribbean regional CO_2 emissions came from transportation in the Caribbean. In Barbados alone, more than half of CO_2 emissions came from that sector (LAC-OLADE 2020). In fact, based on present usage, without the changes in current local habits expected from the new national energy policy, Barbados traverses a path that can produce over 2 million tons of CO_2 emissions from fuel combustion by 2040 (Moore et al. 2016). In Barbados, the national fleet consists of approximately 136,400 registered vehicles (Ministry of Transport, Works and Maintenance 2020), with most of the cars being run on petroleum via internal combustion engines. In recent years, there has been a small private-sector-driven penetration of electric vehicles into the country's transportation sector, where there are now upwards of 50 charging ports and 300 licensed electric vehicles (Edgehill et al. 2014), and one of the largest fleets of electric buses per capita in the world. However, with most charging points connected to the mainly fossil fuel powered national grid, these vehicles and electric buses have not yet begun to significantly reduce the emissions from transport.

One potential alternative to the issue just mentioned would be to have electric vehicles powered by renewable energy sources, which would reduce transport related CO_2 emissions. Nonetheless, at this stage, the purchase of electric vehicles alongside solar home-charging ports still poses a financial challenge to most persons anywhere in the world (Tsioloaridou et al. 2004; Edgehill et al. 2014).

Considering all these challenges and the 2030 objective of a fossil fuel-free and carbon neutral Barbados, the present work investigates the use of biofuels as a complementary alternative for transportation. More

specifically, biomethane, which is a transportation fuel, can be produced by the anaerobic digestion of organic wastes or dedicated energy crops, producing biogas which contains biomethane (Uusitalo et al. 2014). The required biomass can be obtained from agricultural and forestry waste, grasses (Holder et al. 2020; Holder et al. 2019), sugar cane (Kennedy 2001), landfill gas, municipal solid waste, and other crops planted specifically for energy production (Sims et al. 2003). The disposal of some agricultural and forestry residue such as bagasse, rice husks, bark and saw dust, usually comes at a CO_2 emissions cost, meaning that their disposal requires the use of energy. For their disposal to become carbon neutral, sustainable re-purposing of these materials to produce energy is necessary (Sims et al. 2003).

In parallel to the increased interest in using biofuel as an alternative fuel for transportation, a recent phenomenon that has been taking place on the coastal shores of Barbados, as well as neighboring countries, is the increased prevalence of Sargassum seaweed. The latter is a marine macroalgae that has inconveniently inundated beach tourism spots at alarming rates and was recently declared a national emergency in Barbados. This increase in Sargassum seaweed is expected to worsen (Wang 2019). Due to the novel nature of the recent escalation in Sargassum seaweed influx, the Barbados Ministry of Maritime Affairs and the Blue Economy is now in the process of developing their Sargassum Adaptive Management Strategy. Studies such as the present work can help to shape the regulatory framework around Sargassum seaweed for Barbados and the wider Caribbean. Thus far, Sargassum seaweed is easily accessible and free. It can be used as a biofuel feedstock. Exploiting Sargassum seaweed also supports the idea of the circular economy (Saldarriaga-Hernandez 2020).

Therefore, the present work is centered around three research questions. First, how can the 2030 fossil fuel-free and carbon neutral objective be reached in the transportation sector of Barbados? Second, how useful is biomethane as an alternative fuel for transportation to meet this objective? Third, what are the potential economic and environmental implications of using biomethane from Sargassum seaweed for transportation purposes?

To answer these, an experiment was carried out that combined and processed Sargassum seaweed samples collected on the Barbados coast with wastewater from local rum distilleries to produce biomethane. The latter can then be used in Compressed Natural Gas (henceforth CNG) vehicles as a transportation fuel. The reasons why CNG vehicles are relevant in this specific case are manifold. First, they can be driven completely on biomethane (Alamia et al. 2016; Miltner et al. 2009). Second, seventeen demonstration CNG vehicles operated by staff at select government and university offices, are already operational in Barbados (Cox 2019) and there are larger numbers in the wider Caribbean region, particularly Trinidad and Tobago where the CNG business is successful (Green et al. 2017). Third, there is currently a high penetration of CNG vehicle maintenance and repair expertise in the Caribbean region (ibid.). Finally, there exist CNG conversion kits to enable conventional gasoline-powered internal combustion engine vehicles to run on CNG (ibid.). These, along with the refueling cylinder, cost approximately \$500 USD (Nathaniel 2012). For all these reasons, it can be argued that biomethane is a potential alternative transportation fuel, and that its use can contribute to Barbados's 2030 fossil fuel free target.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. The next section details the motivation behind the transition from fossil fuel to biofuel, citing economic, environmental and climate viewpoints. References to successful international case studies are also made. The third section provides an estimate of the benefits that a full transition to biomethane could have in terms of CO_2 emissions. The fourth section describes our anaerobic digestion experimental set-up and presents the results of the anaerobic digestion experiment. We then conclude in the fifth section by summarizing the findings and outlining limitations.

2. The call for a transition from fossil fuel to biofuel

Several factors motivate the transition from fossil fuel to biofuel (particularly biomethane) for the transportation sector in Barbados. One of them is the economic need to diversify the energy matrix, as 91 percent of energy consumption in Barbados is supported by fossil fuels, most of which are imported. This large share renders the country's economy fully dependent on imported fossil fuels. Thus, new policies and decisions made by OPEC, unpredictable pressures from changing international markets, as well as global crises (Sharif et al. 2020; Barsky 2004) have subjected oil-dependent SIDS to economic shocks and have forced these vulnerable economies to obtain loans for basic needs on several occasions (Niles et al. 2013).

Another factor is linked to the widespread worldwide transport-related practices which result in heightened CO_2 emissions of transportation globally. Approximately 15% of total global CO_2 emissions, resulting in a climate crisis, are due to the use of gasoline and diesel in road transport. Thus, the transport sector is seen as one of the largest emitters of greenhouse gases in the world (Uusitalo et al. 2014). Barbados, though small, can have tangible impacts on the global climate crisis by shifting its entire transportation sector from being principally fossil fuel-powered to being fully renewable energy-powered.

Given its geographic location, Barbados is particularly susceptible to natural disasters like hurricanes, flooding and landslides that are worsened by climate change. This necessitates heightened resiliency in its energy generation infrastructure. Liquid fuel energy sources such as biofuel provide an added layer of resilience, compared with other sources of renewable energy such as solar PV systems which cannot always withstand today's hurricane speeds.

Biofuel is particularly beneficial for converting Barbados's transportation sector since it offers the possibility of re-purposing existing fossil-fuel infrastructure (pipelines, refueling stations, internal combustion engines) rather than stranding all fuel-related assets, infrastructure, and expertise (Green et al. 2017) in the coming fossil fuel-free context. This is relevant in the case of Barbados, as internal combustion engine vehicles driven on fossil fuels dominate the transportation sector: 116,508 gasoline vehicles, 19348 diesel vehicles, and 352 electric vehicles make up near 100% of the national fleet (Barbados Ministry of Transport, Works and Maintenance 2020).Transitioning from this form of transportation to one which is fossil fuel-free would require a strategy that converts all registered vehicles to fossil fuel-free drive trains (Gay et al. 2018).

One type of locally produced biofuel in Barbados that has the potential to drastically reduce the dependency on imported fossil fuels for energy consumption is compressed biomethane. Biomethane is an indigenous, gaseous, and sustainable transport fuel that requires the anaerobic digestion of an organic feedstock to be produced. In some countries, biomethane is also used to displace natural gas for electricity generation and then the digestate from the anaerobic digestion process is used to displace synthetic fertilizer (Pourbafrani et al. 2013). Through biofuels, CO_2 emissions can be greatly reduced (Browne et al. 2011), although this calls for strategic planning, as the overall emissions reduction of the process is not automatic.

The production of biogas and biomethane in the Caribbean has gained increasing coverage in recent years, though it has been present in the region for decades (Silva-Martinez and Pereira-Sanchez 2018). The literature reports different biomass resources, depending on the country. For instance, in Belize, the biomass resources come from municipal (i.e., sewer and solid) waste, banana agricultural waste, shrimp waste, chicken manure, and citrus waste (Schmit et al 2016). In Haiti, it mostly comes from agricultural wastes, domestic wastewaters, and animal manure (Silva-Martinez and Pereira-Sanchez 2018). Other countries like the Dominican Republic or Cuba have their biomass coming from the sugar cane industry, among others (ibid.). In the case of Barbados, the production of biogas and biomethane are projected to also come from the sugar cane industry for two reasons. First, sugarcane has a high potential for energy production, as it is a C4 plant (Kocar et al. 2013). Second, it has proven to be successful as a biomass resource in countries such as Brazil. However, further research is being executed in Barbados to evaluate the possibility of using other grass sources (Holder et al.

2019). In the present work, and in other recent publications, Barbados' naturally occurring abundant Sargassum seaweed inundation is being actively tested for its biofuel potential (McKenzie et al. 2019).

On a large scale, the resulting biomethane can be distributed using existing natural gas pipelines (as Figure 14 below shows), as well as via trucks as liquefied biomethane and compressed biomethane (Dada et al. 2017).

The remaining part of this section takes a closer look at three of the motivating factors behind the transitioning from fossil fuel to biofuel, which are specific to Barbados and therefore worth detailing. First, we zoom in on the natural disaster exposure and the resilience of renewables' infrastructure at the geographical location of this small, oil-dependent island to provide a better understanding of the climate change-related challenges it faces, along with its neighbors. Then, the study takes a closer look at the sugar cane industry in the country to explain why it might not be as sustainable a source of biomethane as expected. This section concludes by exploring the advantages of converting internal combustion engine vehicles to CNG vehicles based on international successes.

2.1 Exposure to natural disasters and infrastructure resilience in the Caribbean

As previously stated, a shift of the transportation sector from fossil fuel to biofuel would considerably reduce the imported fossil fuel dependency, lower CO_2 emissions, and prove to be beneficial towards mitigating global climate change. SIDS bear the brunt of global climate change effects, are more affected by rising sea levels, and face more frequent and stronger extreme weather, including hurricane devastation, landslides, flooding, beach erosion and land erosion (Schubert et al. 2017). A natural hazard is defined as any natural process that poses a threat to human life or property, or any interaction between humans and a natural process, which results in significant property damage, injuries, or loss of life (Keller et al. 2016).

The Caribbean region is naturally disaster-prone because of its geographical location, putting the islands at risk of damage by atmospheric processes, such as hurricanes and tropical storms, floods, with rock types, faults and terrain that make it susceptible to damage from landslides and other geological processes (Ahmad 2007).

The most common, and often the most devastating of the natural hazards affecting the Caribbean region, are hurricanes, which have left lasting effects in islands such as Dominica, Grenada, and the British Virgin Islands, and most recently in The Bahamas, to cite a few. Hurricanes affecting the Caribbean, also known as tropical cyclones, form over the warm water in the Atlantic Ocean, and are fueled by the warmth (Keller et al. 2016).

Tropical cyclones are classified based on their wind speed, from the lowest wind speeds of a tropical depression (33 kt or less) to a tropical storm (34 kt to 63kt) to a hurricane (64 kt and greater). Due to global warming, hurricanes have become significantly more severe, as well as more common. For example, there were two category 5 hurricanes that ravaged the Caribbean region in 2017 alone. In 2020, a record number of hurricanes have also traversed the region, due to climate change.

Undoubtedly, over the years, the region has been impacted by hurricanes. Figure 1 tracks hurricanes in the Atlantic Ocean from 1851 to 2016. Blue lines signify tropical depressions, green lines signify tropical storms, yellow lines signify category 1 hurricanes, orange lines signify category 2 hurricanes, red lines signify category 3 hurricanes, pink lines signify category 4 hurricanes and purple lines signify category 5 hurricanes.



Figure 1: Figure showing Hurricane Tracks in the Caribbean (Kosin et al. 2010)

Barbados is, like many of the SIDS surrounding it, vulnerable to natural disasters, because of its geographical location. It is mostly exposed to hurricanes, floods, and landslides. When determining sources of renewable energy for SIDS, resilience to hurricane and other natural disasters is a major factor to consider. Wind and solar energy have been applied and tested in several of the islands of the Caribbean. However, with the increasing number of intense hurricanes, these sources cannot be considered on their own due to their vulnerability. For instance, evidence of damage to wind farms caused by hurricanes was recently found in SIDS in the Caribbean region (Kwasinski & Alexis 2018). In most instances, the damages were caused when turbines were stuck in one position (due to power outages), unable to rotate and adjust to the wind direction to reduce wind damage to the blades, hull, and tower.

Another example of the challenge that hurricanes can pose is that while solar panels may still be able to generate electricity in cloudy conditions, the damage from airborne debris during a hurricane can allegedly pose problems to electricity generation. In terms of floods and landslides, recent anecdotal evidence points to the possibility of landslides being caused by poorly planned wind farms (McCarthaig 2019), indicating the greater need for careful consideration of locations for wind resource exploration in Caribbean islands that are susceptible to landslides.

In other words, the Caribbean regional solar PV panels and wind turbines which are more vulnerable to Caribbean natural disasters than their petroleum counterpart must be implemented with extreme care. This calls for the exploitation of other renewable energy resources that could complement the renewables already in use in the country. One of these complementary renewable energy resources could be biogas, for example.

Biomethane is a particularly attractive additional source of renewable energy for two reasons. First, it can be implemented by re-purposing existing natural gas and petroleum infrastructure instead of requiring newly built infrastructure (Karatzos et al. 2014). This means that already built pipelines can be used without further exploitation or siting needed. Second, natural disasters have not been widely noted to affect oil and gas infrastructure in the Caribbean islands (as pipelines are mostly underground and generators indoor). In the case of hurricanes, for example, evidence reveals that damage to (usually ductile) petroleum infrastructure associated with these neither results in disaster nor poses challenges that cannot be overcome (Corrales et al. 2017).

There is little evidence of significant damage to onshore oil and natural gas pipelines resulting from natural disasters. Along with this, the recent push to upgrade and fix existing pipelines in Barbados (Cox 2019) makes the use of biomethane as a renewable energy source feasible and desirable. Furthermore, these upgrades that increase the resilience of the biomethane technology to floods and other disasters would allow this source to

become more stable and predictable than energy sources that are easily susceptible to damages by natural disasters.

Now that we have made the case for the use of biofuel for transportation as a complement to other renewable energy sources, we discuss a novel source of biomethane, produced via the anaerobic digestion of Sargassum seaweed alongside rum distillery wastewater in the next section.

2.2 Sargassum seaweed as an alternative to sugar cane

In powering the projected biofuel-dominated transportation sector, the choice of feedstock matters. Caribbean SIDS have limited land space that is to be divided between commercial use, domestic settlements, and seminatural habitats, such as beaches, arable fields, pastures, managed forests, and woodlands (Mincey et al. 2013). Still, carbohydrate-rich feedstocks like sugar cane are especially featured in biofuel discussions, as they can be processed and distilled to produce bioethanol (Karmee et al. 2014). One example of a country with nationwide use of sugar cane as a biofuel is Brazil, which has near-tropical weather comparable to Caribbean islands like Barbados.

For the past three decades, Brazil has successfully implemented sugar-cane-derived bioethanol for at least twothirds of the country's transportation needs (La Rovere et al. 2011), making it the world leader in the sugar industry, arguably to the limits of sustainability (Brinkman et al. 2018; Martinelli et al. 2008). Production of bioethanol in Brazil involves the use of large amounts of agricultural land (ibid.). However, land availability and suitability on a small island like Barbados is constrained. The example of Jamaica, another SIDS, reflects the limitations of being land constrained for the further exploitation of the sugar industry for fuel purposes. Whereas Jamaica began producing bioethanol from sugar cane in 1985, producing ethanol from 1 ton of sugar cane annually, the system did not survive past the mid-nineties (Mohee et al. 2015), leading national efforts towards ethanol gasoline blends in the early 2000's to no avail (Johnson et al. 2020).

Additionally, the successful production of Brazilian ethanol and biodiesel depends on a wider agricultural sector, including the production of corn (Kim et al. 2004) and a variety of oils, such as sunflower oil, palm oil, soybean oil and others (La Rovere et al. 2011). The Brazilian ecosystem that led to its success story is quite complex and importing this solution to a small island like Barbados may not be feasible. On top of these obstacles, sugar cane, which was once the most promising biofuel feedstock for tropical territories (Karmee et al. 2014) has been on a severe decline in Barbados for over seven decades (Anderson et al. 1995; Cox 2019). Figures 2, 3 and 4 below show the fall off over a period of 12 years, from 2006 to 2017.



Figure 2: Total agriculture earnings Vs Sugar Cane Earnings in Millions from 2006-2017 (Barbados Statistical Service 2006)

Figure 2 compares the total number of earnings from sugar cane with the total number of earnings for the whole agricultural sector, thereby indirectly representing how big the share of sugar cane revenues industry is compared to other agricultural sectors. Whereas the total amount of earnings from agriculture has fluctuated over the years since 2015 it has been going up, while earnings from sugar cane have been going down. Independently from total earnings of agriculture, earnings from sugar are much lower after 2009 than their average during 2006-2009. These findings suggest a slump in earnings from the sugar cane industry, on its own and relative to total earnings from agriculture.

Figure 3 offers a somewhat similar picture as Figure 2, in as much as it shows declining sugar cane manufacturing over time between 2006 and 2017, as well as a diminishing share of manufacturing from sugar cane over total agricultural manufacturing. While total manufacturing is also lower in 2017 than it was during 2006-2009, it is slightly higher in 2017 than in 2010, but with a lower manufacturing from sugar cane relative to the total for the manufacturing sector.



Figure 3: Total agriculture manufacturing Vs Sugar Cane manufacturing in Millions from 2006-2017 (Barbados Statistical Service 2006)

Finally, in line with the two previous figures, Figure 4 confirms the fall of the sugar cane industry in terms of production and earnings. Despite a growing GDP per capita post-2009, the general trend has been a dwindling of sugar cane, with the value in 2017 almost a quarter of what it was a decade earlier. One of the reasons for the sugar yield's slump is the change in the soil's chemical properties under long-term sugar cane monoculture (Bramley et al. 1996). Another reason why the sugar cane industry's production has been falling since 2006 has to do with plunging sugar prices in Europe (Menard 2006; Richardson-Ngwenya 2012).



Figure 4: Barbados GDP per capita compared with sugar revenue from 2006-2017 (Barbados Statistical Service 2006)

Sugar cane is not a sustainable source of biofuel for the transportation sector in Barbados, given its falling production. If all the sugar cane produced in 2017 were to be used as a biofuel via a transformation to bioethanol, following the Brazilian example, a mere 6% of the transportation fuel that would be needed in 2018 could be produced (Box 1), equivalent to a revenue of approximately \$4.3 million USD (Ministry of Energy and Water Resources 2019). It should be noted that only very small volumes of locally produced rum depend on locally produced sugarcane molasses, and that most of the volume of rum produced on the island is made from imported molasses (Seale, Richard 2019; Hassell, Andrew 2019).

As such, the diminishing sugar cane industry, and the volatility of sugar prices motivates the need to look for an alternative source of biofuel that is sustainable, less affected by global prices, and more abundant without the need for potentially limited agricultural land. Sargassum seaweed seems to satisfy all these requirements.

Sargassum seaweed, a naturally occurring seaweed species that floats freely in the ocean (Gower et al. 2019; Guiry 2020), was first identified in the Atlantic Ocean by Christopher Columbus in the fifteenth century. Currently, the world's largest Sargassum seaweed belt extends from the coast of West African to the Caribbean Sea and the Gulf of Mexico (Wang et al. 2019).

Sargassum seaweed is an alien invasive species within the Caribbean and its proliferation is hard to control. When it washes up onshore in large volumes and begins to disintegrate, it releases toxic gases to the extent that doctors in Guadeloupe and Martinique reported more than 10,000 cases of dangerous human toxic exposures associated with Sargassum seaweed between January and August 2018 (Wang et al. 2019). Beyond this, its inundation on Caribbean beaches is associated with disruptions in beach tourism (Casas-Beltran et al. 2020; Cashman et al. 2012), fisheries (Ramlogan et al. 2017) and eco-tourism (Casas-Beltran et al. 2020; Maurer et al.

2015). Thus, in 2018, the government of Barbados declared Sargassum seaweed a national emergency (Rawlins-Bentham 2018; Mendez-Tejeda et al. 2019).

Sugar cane production in Barbados totaled 102,181 tons in 2017 (Barbados Statistical Service, 2006; Simoes et al.,2011). It is known that one ton of sugar cane can be estimated to produce roughly 19.5 gallons of bioethanol (Gallagher et al., 2005).

If Barbados re-purposed its entire sugar industry to energy production the in the year 2017, Barbados could have produced:

 $102,181 \times 19.5 \approx 7,542,542$ liters of bioethanol (1)

Nearly 2 million gallons of bioethanol would have been produced. In 2020 there were 136,400 registered vehicles in Barbados (Barbados Ministry of Transport, Works and Maintenance 2020). Assuming a vehicle travels 30 km for 5 days per week, for a total of:

 $5 \times 30 \times 136,400 \times 52 = 1,063,920,000$ km, (2)

driven per year in Barbados.

It takes approximately 0.125 L of ethanol to drive one kilometer (Bai et al., 2010). This would indicate the potential of Barbados' entire 2017 sugar cane product to produce only:

7,542,542/0.125 = 60,340,336 km, (3)

accounting for only 5.7 % of the required transport fuel needed in 2018.



To the extent that its presence on the coasts of Barbados is not desirable, and that it is freely available and accessible, harvesting the Sargassum seaweed in the open sea before it gets to the beach and using it as a biofuel feedstock is an attractive alternative to sugar cane as a biofuel. This is particularly true given several facts. First, the literature argues that the Atlantic Sargassum seaweed belt is a large source of biomass, which is here to stay and will continue to increase (Wang et al. 2019). Second, under the use of Sargassum seaweed there is no competition for agricultural land use, as Sargassum can positively impact beach tourism, fisheries, eco-tourism, and employment. For instance, at the global level, the biogas sector was responsible for creating 334,000 direct and indirect jobs in 2018 (IRENA 2019).

Whereas the use of Sargassum seaweed as an alternative to sugar cane has so far shown promise, its anaerobic digestion towards biomethane for a combustible transportation fuel requires an additional element, which is water. Anaerobic digestion requires up to 7% solid feedstocks, while the remaining 93% of the digestate is basically water (Parkin et al. 1986). Even if Sargassum seaweed were to provide all the needed solid matter to produce biofuel for Barbados, a source of water would still be needed. We propose that this need can be met by industrial wastewater, such as what is daily produced at local rum distilleries.

As is well-known, many Caribbean SIDS, including Barbados, have fully developed rum industries due to their colonial history (Ostrander & Gilman 1956, Quinn 1975). Wastewater from the rum distillation systems, currently being discarded in the ocean (West Indies Rum Distillery) or primarily left in troughs to evaporate (Distillery 2 Rum Distillery) can be redirected towards producing energy in the form of biogas and biofuel via

the process of anaerobic digestion. While rum distillery waste is very dilute, it is still effectively high in chemical oxygen demand (COD) (Tauseef et al. 2013), which enhances the process of anaerobic digestion. In Barbados, where there are three major rum distilleries and a handful of much smaller operations, the present work looks specifically at the three largest rum distilleries, namely Distillery 1Rum Distillery, West Indies Rum Distillery and Distillery 2 Rum Distillery, as each produce thousands of liters of COD-rich wastewater every day (Seale 2019; Hassell 2019).

The argument of using the wastewater from rum distilleries combined with the Sargassum seaweed is attractive from the viewpoint of the circular economy, as it involves recycling wastewater and obliterating a harmful, invasive species from Barbados's marine environment. One might argue that if the sugar cane industry is declining, as was previously mentioned, then this might affect the rum production that depends on it, and hence the availability of the wastewater. However, this would not hold mainly because most of the rum volume produced in Barbados is produced using imported molasses as opposed to products of the local sugar industry which would be used for very small volumes of specialized premium rums (Seale & Richard, 2019; Hassell & Andrew, 2019). In total, approximately 3 million liters of industrial and municipal wastewater are treated daily in Barbados (Anjos & Nelson 1998).

Now that the necessary sources to produce biomethane have been covered, in the next sub-section we examine compressed natural gas (CNG) vehicles, which can be driven on compressed biomethane.

2.3 The success of CNG vehicles through an international lens

If Barbados is to successfully implement the transition from fossil fuel using biofuel as an alternative fuel for transportation— by relying on Sargassum seaweed and rum distillery wastewater, one necessary step is to convert gasoline-consuming internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles to CNG vehicles. As argued earlier, this transformation of the transportation sector in Barbados is feasible for several reasons. First, CNG vehicles can be driven completely on biomethane (Alamia et al. 2016; Miltner et al. 2009; Chandra et al. 2011). Second, seventeen CNG vehicles are currently operational in Barbados (Cox 2019) and there are thousands in the wider Caribbean region (Dolcy et al. 2020). Third, there is currently a high penetration of CNG vehicle maintenance and repair expertise in the Caribbean region (ibid.). Finally, there are inexpensive CNG conversion kits to enable ICE vehicles to run on CNG (ibid.).

Looking at international case studies, countries like Armenia, Bangladesh, Iran, and Pakistan have already adopted the widespread use of CNG-converted vehicles (Khan et al. 2015). In Thailand (Dussadee et al. 2014) and Europe (Alamia et al. 2016), there is increasing evidence of the successful implementation of biomethane to fuel CNG-converted vehicles. CNG vehicles use compressed natural gas as engine fuel for driving. This gas can be replaced with locally produced compressed biomethane, which will reduce harmful CO₂ emissions and reduce fossil fuel importation and consumption.

Large international corporations such as Volvo, Bosch and Ford have already tested and used CNG technology in vehicles like the Volvo FH LNG. There are several registered CNG vehicles in Pakistan, Argentina, and Brazil, where their CNG vehicle numbers are as high as 2 million, 1.7 million and 1.6 million, respectively, with about 2600, 1800 and 1700 refueling stations, respectively, at a ratio of 1000 cars per fueling station (Engerer et al. 2010).

In Pakistan, the compressed natural gas vehicle program began in 1998 with about 150 refueling stations and 10000 vehicles. Currently, out of a nationwide total of 6.167 million vehicles, approximately 3 million are CNG vehicles (Khan et al. 2014). Pakistan has a total energy consumption of 40.03 million tons of oil equivalent, of

which 43 percent is natural gas. By 2016, it was predicted that Pakistan would consume 5980 million standard cubic feet of oil equivalent per day. Under this case scenario, Pakistan was expected to import natural gas from Iran, as local production could not keep up with such numbers.

CNG prospered in Pakistan mainly because natural gas is cheaper than gasoline and diesel, but also because provisional incentives for investors in the CNG sector were in place. These included committed government support for CNG vehicles, gas connection priorities to CNG stations, deregulated market price for CNG, setup loans for refueling stations and exemption from import duty and general sales tax for CNG stations and vehicle conversion equipment for a limited time. All these contributed to attracting 89 billion dollars of investment in Pakistan and created approximately 121,000 jobs.

In Pakistan, over 90 percent of local companies, ranging from engineering design, development, testing, and hi-tech manufacturing setup, have shares in the CNG market. They all possess a common goal of continuous production and advancement of CNG Kits. As a result, Pakistan regularly exports CNG kits to China, Brazil, the Far East, and European countries, thereby increasing the country's GDP (Khan et al. 2014).

Converting from gasoline to CNG vehicles requires a CNG Kit and refueling cylinder, which roughly costs the equivalent of \$500 USD, using Trinidad and Tobago as a reference point. The CNG Kit, as shown in Figure 5, consists of (1) the high-pressure regulators which reduce and regulate the pressure of the fuel exiting the tank from about 200 bars to the 10 bars required by the engine's fuel injection system, (2) the gas filter, (3) the natural gas sensors, which monitor the pressure of the gas. Additionally, a CNG compressor and dispenser are needed for CNG refueling stations (Nathaniel 2012).



Figure 5: Components of a CNG Kit (Hussain et al. 2015)

Despite the abundant advantages CNG vehicles bring, it is worth noting that its biggest disadvantage is that CNG-related road accidents are more likely to be life-threatening to passengers (Khan et al. 2014) than gasoline or diesel vehicles. Nonetheless, there is constant progress in technological innovation that can promote greater safety (Al Eissaei et al. 2020). Alternatively, supplementary road safety measures could be implemented to counter this issue and minimize risks.

One might also argue that electric vehicles (EV) could be the carbon neutral solution for Barbados, as they have successfully begun to penetrate Barbados's transportation sector (Edgehill et al. 2014). However, they are

not enough on their own to ensure an emissions-free transition for two reasons. First, the manufacture and import of large numbers of electric vehicles to Barbados can be more inefficient and expensive than biofuel conversions (Engerer et al. 2010). This is because the price of each individual car being converted would cost approximately \$5000 Barbados dollars per car, (as opposed to the \$1500 Barbados dollars it would take to convert a regular internal combustion engine (running on gasoline or diesel) to CNG drive train (Muteri et al. 2020). Second, unless Barbados finds alternative methods of powering the upgraded national grid, such as solar, wind or biofuel, fossil fuel imports will need to increase tremendously to support the entire national fleet via the electric grid.

Thus far the motivation behind the present research has been detailed and the case for the use of Sargassum seaweed, rum distillery wastewater and CNG-vehicles towards the 2030 fossil fuel free Barbados has been made. Next, a preliminary estimation of the possible reduction in CO₂ emissions and a description our experimental set-up is provided.

3. Preliminary emissions estimation and experimental set-up

In this section we start by presenting an empirical analysis that illustrates the CO_2 emission reduction when using biofuel instead of gasoline or diesel. This estimation is key because it makes a strong statement to policymakers. In the second part of this section, we present the physical set-up for our investigative anaerobic digestion experiment. This details the complexity of the process and shows potential implications.

3.1 The potential effect of biomethane in reducing CO₂ emissions.

We argue that biofuels do not introduce new carbon dioxide into the biosphere, and hence that their emissions are carbon neutral. However, in the process of producing biofuel, it is necessary to consider the carbon emissions that are involved in the logistical details of the process, to avoid introducing large amounts of fossil-fuel-derived-carbon in the processes around anaerobic digestion. As an illustration, comparing three types of fuels; neat gasoline (E0) and gasoline-ethanol blends (E5 and E85), the difference in CO_2 emissions between the process of producing E0 and producing E5 is 0.5% and between E5 and E85 the difference is 18% (Winther et al. 2012).

Biomethane is already being utilized as a fuel worldwide. Its use as a gaseous biofuel in European transport (and the electric grid) could reach 18–20 billion normal cubic meters (Nm³) in 2030, while in Latin America, the installed biogas electricity capacity increased to as much as 450 MW in 2016 (Scarlat et al. 2018). Any car modified to run on natural gas can be driven as a biomethane car shown to reduce CO_2 emissions, compared with gasoline and diesel cars, possibly by up to 200 % (Papacz & Wladyslaw 2011).

When compared to gasoline and diesel vehicles, CNG vehicles fueled by compressed biomethane produced from anaerobic digestion of waste can lower the levels of CO_2 emissions by 81% over the course of the vehicle's lifetime, from its manufacture to the end of its road use (Bordelanne et al. 2011). The levels of CO_2 emissions can be managed, as seen in a field test in Germany where CO_2 is reduced up to 32 gCO₂eq/kWh and emissions are cut by 72 % compared with natural gas (Repele et al. 2014).

While being a renewable source of energy, the biomethane production from energy crops can emit considerable amounts of CO_2 during the processes of cultivation, harvesting, storage, anaerobic digestion, bio-methane scrubbing, and bio-methane storage. During the bio-methane storage stage of the listed process, there can be high emissions if the storing is done incorrectly (Buratti et al. 2013). For leakage of methane equivalent to 4% or higher, the process results are no longer sustainable (Ravina et al. 2015). Digesters with sealed tops have the potential to output the most biomethane, under the condition that the sealed digesters capture more methane, therefore increasing production and avoiding unnecessary emissions (Liebetrau et al. 2010).

When the greenhouse emissions from biomethane are considerably less than greenhouse emissions from natural gas production (Repele et al. 2014). With the improvements of gas-tight plants and digesters, as well as the efficient use of fermentation residue as fertilizers, the emissions in the production of biomethane can be reduced by up to 82%. To avoid the use of electricity produced from fossil fuels as another cause of additional emissions, the electricity used to run the machinery must also come from renewable sources (Buratti et al. 2013).

The emission factor is a representative value which acts as a ratio between the quantity of a pollutant released to the atmosphere and the activity associated with the release of the pollutant, and we can observe the emission factor values for different fuels (Junker & Liousse 2008). Emission factor values can vary based on the technology and the source used, although the emission factor is most significantly determined by the type of the fuel.

For biomethane to be used as a biofuel for transportation, the biogas must be refined to natural gas grade. Compared to other fuels, including the first-generation biofuels, biomethane has the largest negative emissions factor in the well-to-tank (refinement) component, which counteracts the positive emission factor in the tank-to-wheels component (Tilche et al. 2008).

In fact, for every gigajoule (GJ) of heat released during the combustion of fuel, there is a fixed quantity of kilograms of carbon released. The coefficients of kilograms of CO₂ can be used to calculate the Carbon Emission Signature (CES), along with the conversion efficiency η , which is usually a value around $\eta \approx 0.34$. The CES can be written such that:

$$CES = \eta \times (112 \times \%C) + (49 \times \%NG) + (66 \times \%P), \tag{1}$$

where C is coal, NG is natural gas and P is petroleum. This equation is utilized to calculate the Carbon Emitted (CE) by a system that uses electrical energy from a power grid as follows:

$$CE = EC(GJ) \times CES (k_g CO_2/GJ)$$
⁽²⁾

where EC is the energy consumed, and CES is the carbon emissions signature (Jeswiet & Nava 2009).

During the process of biomethane production, CO_2 emissions can amount to as little as 44.6 g CO_2eq/kWh . This corresponds to an overall CO_2 emission reduction of 82% when compared with natural gas. By comparison with other fossil fuels, the evaluation of biomethane is based on two important indicators: CO_2 emissions in g_{eq}/MJ or gCO_2eq/kWh and cumulative energy demand (CED) in MJ/MJ or kWh/kWh.

 CO_2 emissions are expressed as GWP100 (global warming potential) in accordance with International Panel for Climate Change (IPCC) guidelines and describe the contribution of emissions to the greenhouse effect over 100 years. In the case of biofuels, 'CO₂ equivalents' refers to all the emissions of the greenhouse gases CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O, which are converted using appropriate factors (Bernstein et al. 2008).

The calculation done for the CO₂ emissions (Merritt 2019) of different fuels initially for 1 liter of fuel and then for a vehicle with a 60-litre gas tank are shown. The CO₂ emissions for a fleet of 136,400 registered vehicles in Barbados (Barbados Ministry of Transport, Works and Maintenance 2020) is estimated with gasoline being used as an example. Along with gasoline (C_8H_{18}) the other fuels used were Diesel ($C_{12}H_{23}$), Ethanol ($C_{2}H_{5}OH$), Methanol (CH_3OH), Liquid Methane (CH_4) and Biodiesel/Rapeseed Oil ($C_{19}H_{36}O_2$).

We can precisely deduce the CO₂ emissions per liter of fuel, such as in the case of Gasoline:

Gasoline Density = 0.703 kg/L (Jansen & Michael 2000)

Gasoline Chemical formula: C_8H_{18}

Gasoline Molecular mass
$$C = 12 \times 8 = 96$$

 $H = 1 \times 18 = 18$ (3)

Carbon in one liter of gasoline = $0.703 \times [96 \div 114] = 0.592 kg/L$ (4)

 CO_2 emitted from one liter of gasoline = $0.592 \times [44 \div 12] = 2.17 kg/L$ (5)

where CO_2 has a molecular mass of 44 (C = 12, O_2 = 32). For a 60L gas tank:

$$2.17 kg/L \times 60L \approx 130 kg \tag{6}$$

Of the 136,400 cars in Barbados, approximately 116,508 cars run on gasoline, and 19,348 on diesel. For 116,508 gas cars, we estimate the CO_2 emissions as follows:

$$130.147 kg \times 116,508 \approx 15,146,040 kg$$
 (7)

Fuel Type	CO ₂ Emissions kg/L of 1L	CO ₂ Emissions kg of 60L	CO ₂ Emissions kg of 136,400 cars
Gasoline [76]	2.17	130	787,594,080
Diesel [77]	2.65	159	159,969,264
Total Emissions			947,563,344

Table 1: CO₂ Emissions per liter of gasoline and diesel for 136,400 registered cars in Barbados

As seen in Tables 1, the CO_2 emissions of 136,400 cars were calculated for both primary fuels. Barbados imports approximately 66,433,000 liters of fuel per year (Cox 2019), with an approximate total yearly consumption of 43,200,000 liters of gasoline and 23,600,000 liters of diesel. Beyond the emissions of the well-to-tank process, the burning of fuel in tanks also produces emissions, which we estimate. Using the density values from previous calculations, the CO_2 emissions of each fuel was calculated. Four hypothetical scenarios are now proposed for alternative fuels.

Fuel Type	CO ₂ Emissions kg/L of 1L	CO2 Emissions kg of 60L	CO ₂ Emissions kg of 136,400 cars
Ethanol [78]	1.51	90.7	643,316,960
Methanol [79]	1.1	66	468,124,800
Liquid Methane [80]	1.26	75.7	536,924,960
Biodiesel	0.703	42.2	299,316,160

Table 2: CO₂ Emissions per liter of fuel for 136,400 cars in Barbados

In this scenario, if Barbados consumes the listed volume of gasoline, we can compute:

Volume of consumed gasoline = 43,200,000L

1L of gasoline produces 2.17 kg of CO2.

Thus, the total imported gasoline volume produces: 2.17 kg/L × 43,200,000 L \approx 93,700,000 kg of harmful emissions CO₂ emissions

Category	Fuel Type	Volume (L)	CO_2 Emissions in a year
			(kg)
Fossil Fuel	Gasoline	43200000	93700000
	Diesel	23600000	62600000
Biofuel (Renewable	Ethanol	66800000	100900000
Energy)	Methanol	66800000	73500000
	Liquid Methane	66800000	84300000
	Biodiesel	66800000	156000000

Table 3: Annual Projected CO₂ Emissions of hypothetical alternative fuels (Ethanol, Methanol, Liquid Methane, Biodiesel) compared to the emissions of imported fuels (Gasoline, Diesel)

The same exercise was repeated for all other fuel types and results shown in the third column in Table 3. The table shows the emissions of fuel imported and consumed yearly compared with the hypothetical equivalent use of alternative biofuels. As can be seen, using biofuels to power the transport sector, even in a small island like Barbados can stop CO_2 emissions every year.

3.2 Experimental set-up for the anaerobic digestion

In the experimental set-up illustrated in Figure 7, a small amount of rum distillery waste (25 ml) is placed into the sealed jar alongside 25 ml of inoculum (a mixture of Barbados sour grass and fish offal) and 3.5 g of fresh Sargassum seaweed undergoing various pre-treatments as described in Table 4. The different components of each treatment are presented on the left-hand side, while the right-hand side shows which components are applied to the controls and to the samples, respectively. The numbers on the first line of the right-hand side help refer to a specific control or sample. For instance, control 1 included Sargassum, saltwater pre-treatment and a bacteria source (inoculum).

Component	∥ с	ontrol	5			Samj	ples		
	1	9	10	2	3	5	12	6	13
Sargassum	yes					yes	yes	yes	yes
Saltwater pre-treatment	yes					yes		yes	
Fresh water pre-treatment							yes		yes
Low COD (Mount Gay) wastewater		yes		yes		yes	yes		
High COD (Foursquare)wastewater		yes	yes		yes			yes	yes
Bacteria source (Inoculum)	yes			yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes

Table 4: Comparison of biomethane potential test components

Fresh Sargassum seaweed is collected on the southern-most tip of Barbados (at Silver Sands Beach), washed with freshwater, and stored at 25°C. The weights of forty empty jars are first measured (see jar in Figure 6), and the fresh Sargassum samples are then added to the jars and the jars weighed again to verify a mass of 3.5g of fresh matter being used in each jar.



Figure 6: Sargassum seaweed sample in 50 ml jar

The sample is then dried for 24 hours at 100°C and then weighed again in the jar to record the dry matter weight of the sample. The Sargassum is then mechanically ground to 10mm size particles and added to the jar, to which a small amount of effluent and 25ml of distillery wastewater are also added. The experimental set-up for the biomethane potential test is performed in the micro-digester set-up illustrated in Figure 7, as described in (Holder et al.2019). All samples and controls mentioned in Table 4 went through this process before results could be observed, as we present next.



Figure 7: Experimental set-up for biomethane potential test. Micro-digester set-up taken from Holder et al.2019.

4. Results

Experimental methane production outcomes for each sample are described in Figures 8-11. These results are then applied to the numbers in Barbados.

4.1 **Results from samples**

This section shows the outcomes of the experiments executed for the different samples. The letters A, B, C and D are used to refer to the replicates of each sample. For instance, Figure 8 shows the results of four replicates, A, B, C and D, of a biomethane potential test of Distillery 11ow chemical oxygen demand (COD) wastewater, and our bacteria-rich inoculum, which corresponds to sample 2 in Table 4. The x-axis represents the number of days and the y-axis the production of methane.

What we observe is a fifteen-day rise that reaches a methane production of 45 Nml/gFM by day 15. These results can be compared to replicates A, B, C and D of Sample 3 in Figure 9, which contained Distillery 2 high COD wastewater, which led to an immediately production of 45 Nml of methane as early as day 1.



Figure 8: Volume of methane (Nml/gFM) produced from sample 2 that was the low COD wastewater and effluent mixture with no Sargassum seaweed (Source: own elaboration)

Comparing results from Figures 8 and 9, it can be observed that the level of COD in wastewater is demonstrated to influence the rate of methane production in the first 15 days of the process. Longer time scales need to be observed in future tests, to observe the stabilized long-term behavior of this biomethane production system. In the absence of Sargassum seaweed, it can be observed that the methane product of rum distillery waste is less predictable and more varied, as data lines across experimental replicates show greater spread in these images when compared with Figures 10 and 11.



Figure 9: Volume of methane (Nml) produced from sample 3 high COD wastewater and effluent mixture with no Sargassum seaweed (Source: own elaboration)

Outcomes from samples 5 and 12 are shown in Figure 10. One can observe that a low COD wastewater and effluent mixture with saltwater and fresh water pre-treated Sargassum seaweed produce methane in lower amounts than results from samples 6 and 13 in Figure 11, which show methane output

of systems with high COD wastewater and effluent mixture with salt-water and fresh water pre-treated Sargassum seaweed.



Sargassum + Mount Gay + Effluent

Figure 10: Volume of methane (Nml) produced from samples 5 and 12 that were both in the low COD wastewater and effluent mixture with salt-water and fresh water pre-treated Sargassum seaweed respectively (Source: own elaboration)





What can be seen from Figures 10 and 11 is that behaviors are converging across replicates and even across different conditions, showing that Sargassum combined with rum distillery waste makes for predictable biomethane output.

When combining all results from the different samples into a single figure, as in Figure 12, the best methane output comes from sample 13, with its high COD rum distillery waste combined with Sargassum seaweed that was pre-treated with freshwater as seen in Table 4. Overall, low COD levels in rum distillery wastewater coincide with less output biomethane with and without Sargassum.



Figure 12: Cumulative methane produced (Nml/gFM) versus time (days) from all tests (Source: own elaboration)

Based on results displayed in Figure 12, an approximate regression relationship between methane product, M, and time, t could be generated, as follows:

$$M = (3.08 + 0.09t)^3 \tag{8}$$

The results from the anaerobic digestion of Sargassum seaweed with rum distillery waste (McKenzie et al.2019) just presented above are promising, as they reveal the potential of the Sargassum seaweed for Barbados and other rum-producing Caribbean nations.

4.2 Application of the results to the case of Barbados

Biogas is produced by anaerobic digestion where micro-organisms breakdown organic matter (Dada et al. 2017). Once extracted, biogas is then scrubbed to remove carbon dioxide and any trace gases, such as hydrogen sulfide and small amounts of other elements. The biogas is then upgraded, and the resulting product is biomethane, a gas consisting of 95% to 97% methane and 1% to 3% carbon dioxide (Ryckebosch et al. 2011). Anaerobic digestion for methane production can be performed using biofuel crops, sewage treatment waste, landfill gas, and even plant waste, such as grass cuttings (Moreira 2010).

Four square Rum Distillery produces 600m³ of wastewater daily, for 260 days every year (Seale 2019), whereas the West Indies Rum Distillery produces 600m³ of wastewater for 330 days every year (Hassell 2019). Between these two distilleries, this is a total of 213,600,000 liters of high COD rum distillery wastewater from two local distilleries in a year.

Using our results, we estimate the production of methane after 15 days of anaerobic digestion of high-COD rum distillery wastewater and inoculum (a mixture of Barbados sour grass and fish offal). The outcome is an average of $43.75 \text{ Nml/gFm} = 4.375 \times 10-5 \text{ Nm3}$ of methane gas produced by 25 ml of wastewater in a micro-digester. From Equation 8, we can roughly estimate that approximately 185 Nml of biomethane can be produced in 30 days from this system. Using the ideal gas law, this amounts to 0.00815 moles of biomethane gas.

It takes a total of 50 liters of methane gas compressed at 200 bars pressure to power a regular CNG vehicle for a week (Nathaniel 2012; Murray 2020). Using the ideal gas law, this totals to 396 moles of gas. With approximately 52 weeks in a year, it therefore would take 396 moles \times 52 weeks \times 136,400 cars = 2, 808, 748, 800 moles of methane gas to sustain the transportation sector of Barbados on CNG for a year. This would require 8, 615, 793, 865 liters of rum distillery waste and 1.21 * 10^6 tons of fresh Sargassum in a year. Nearly 800,000,000 liters of wastewater, including all rum distilleries' wastewater, other industrial wastewater, and sewage, are treated every day in Barbados (Anjos & Nelson 1998) so one tenth of the required fluid volume can already be found locally, although this would require further lab investigation and research.

In 2017, twenty million tons of Sargassum seaweed were estimated to inundate the Caribbean Sea and the central Atlantic Ocean (Wang et al. 2019), presenting evidence that more than sufficient volumes of fresh Sargassum are available in Barbados' very large EEZ depicted in Figure 13. Thus, while the needed volume of Sargassum is readily available, one would have to go beyond just wastewater from local rum distilleries to power large segments of the transportation sector with biomethane produced via Sargassum seaweed and industrial wastewater.

Processing large amounts of fresh Sargassum seaweed and storing large volumes of biomethane gas are not simple tasks, and the process is largely simplified if distilleries and other industrial sources of high COD wastewater install anaerobic digesters, and transfer impure, untreated biogas to gas companies for purification and compression (Seale 2019). Once the biomethane is produced and purified, it can be pumped directly into gas pipes. As previously stated, one of the key advantages of biomethane is that it can be implemented by repurposing existing natural gas infrastructure instead of requiring newly built infrastructure (Karatzos et al. 2014), meaning that already built pipelines and infrastructure can be used without further siting needed.

To give an idea of the connections that would need to be established to ensure a functioning system, Figure 14 illustrates Barbados' already existing natural gas pipeline network and its proximity to the larger rum distilleries (National Petroleum Corporation 2021).



Figure 13: The EEZ of Barbados is 433 times its land space (Marine Regions 2020).



Figure 14: Map of Barbados's natural gas pipelines (National Petroleum Corporation 2021)

5. Conclusions

The present work explores the potential of exploiting the Sargassum seaweed that inundates the coasts of Barbados, along with locally produced wastewater from rum distilleries, to produce biomethane gas as an alternative transportation fuel, via CNG conversions of local gasoline vehicles.

As discussed, Barbados faces several economic and environmental challenges. First, it is overly reliant on oil imports for its transportation sector and hence vulnerable to worldwide shocks. Second, it has considerable levels of CO_2 emissions that translate into worsening global warming leading to an increase in natural catastrophes to which Barbados is particularly vulnerable. Third, its beaches are being inundated by Sargassum seaweed which affects the tourism industry, and releases toxic gases to the detriment of human health. Finally, its sugar cane industry cannot be exploited as a major biofuel feedstock source due to its decline. All these factors combined pave the way for a transition from fossil fuel to Sargassum-seaweed-derived biofuel for Barbados to reach its 2030 target of being fossil fuel free.

One key advantage of transitioning to biomethane from Sargassum seaweed and local rum distillery wastewater is that it will require smoother changes to the already existing infrastructure that fundamentally consists of the soon to be upgraded (Cox 2019) nationwide natural gas grid. Minimizing required changes to existing infrastructure is beneficial since it reduces cost and places Barbados on a faster track to achieving its energy policy goal of becoming 100 % fossil fuel-free and carbon neutral by 2030.

As mentioned previously, focusing exclusively on other renewables such as solar and wind might be problematic due to its level of exposure to natural disasters and therefore, resilience issues associated with these technologies. The same applies to EVs when they are charged with electricity generated from solar panels, as these are meant to be located above ground, often on rooftops, which makes them vulnerable to damage with hurricane wind speeds above 100 miles per hour (mph). As indicated in Section 2.1, during the hurricane season, wind speeds can easily surpass 150 mph, which makes it unwise to exclusively invest in solar panels, as the ubiquitous nationwide solution to a fossil fuel free transportation sector in Barbados (Moore 2011; Gay et al. 2018; U.E.S 2017).

While the use of Sargassum seaweed is a suitable alternative, thanks to the fact that it is free, sustainable, accessible, and that its transformation to biomethane is resilient to natural catastrophes, it does not come without shortcomings. One of the biggest issues for biomethane operations (gaseous, liquid, or compressed) would be safety, as stated above, and storage, as Barbados currently does not store natural gas (Cox 2019). Another potential limitation could allegedly be the emissions associated with the process of anaerobic digestion at a larger scale.

Also, sargassum seaweed, which is currently abundant on the coasts of many Caribbean countries, is not expected to be an intermittent resource, but stable (Wang et al. 2019 and expected to get worse over the years.

From another long-term perspective, it would be also interesting to carry out some estimates of the impact of the declining sugar cane industry on the release of wastewater from rum distillery in order to see whether this could have an impact on the amount of wastewater that will be produced, which is needed in the anaerobic digestion process that leads to biomethane production. This is particularly relevant in a country like Barbados that is one of the most water scarce countries in the world.

Finally, the transition from fossil fuel to biofuel as an alternative fuel would also require the widespread conversion of conventional vehicles to CNG vehicles and needed additional road safety measures once these are in place, considering the higher risk of driving these vehicles compared to conventional vehicles.

However, international experience has demonstrated that the widespread conversion to CNG vehicles is possible and particularly feasible in the case of Barbados. The textbook example of Pakistan's CNG success suggests that industrialized bio-methane production via large-scale anaerobic digestion can create jobs. Removing the Sargassum seaweed from the coasts also leads to job creation, directly by hiring people to collect the Sargassum seaweed on popular beaches. Therefore, the transition from fossil fuel to biomethane as an alternative via the use of Sargassum seaweed and wastewater leads to a 'quadruple win': it tackles climate change and contributes to the 2030 agenda of becoming fossil fuel free by reducing CO₂ emissions; it can bring economic benefits by making Barbados less reliant on fossil fuel price shocks and boosting the tourism industry; it allows the industrialization of wastewater which is otherwise poorly utilized at present, feeding into the idea of the circular economy; and it can create employment and promote new skills via the process of Sargassum seaweed collection, CNG vehicle conversion, the production of bio-methane and an upturn in beach tourism.

While the Sargassum seaweed collection and use seem to be a viable solution to the economic and environmental threats currently faced by Barbados, future research would need to be carried out to analyze the potential costs of seaweed collection and anaerobic digestion, its overall financial suitability when compared to other alternatives and its complementarity, and most importantly, security of supply throughout the year. Evaluation of the regulation of the seaweed would be necessary for when it is considered a public good, in the context of the circular economy optimizing the use of all related resources in this process.

References

Ahmad, R. A. F. I. "Risk Management, Vulnerability and Natural Disasters in the Caribbean-Report Prepared for the International Federation of the Red Cross." University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica (2007).

Al Eissaei, Muna Rashid, Feras N. Hasoon, and Suresh Manic. "Intelligent Protection System Against Vehicles' Carbon Monoxide Gas Leakage by Using Arduino and Global System for Mobile Model." Journal of Computational and Theoretical Nanoscience 17, no. 4 (2020): 1715-1719.

Alamia, Alberto, Ingemar Magnusson, Filip Johnsson, and Henrik Thunman. "Well-to-wheel analysis of biomethane via gasification, in heavy duty engines within the transport sector of the European Union." Applied Energy 170 (2016): 445-454.

Alshiemer, Frank. "Hurricane Frances Preliminary Storm Survey I." National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Weather Service, Tampa, Florida (2004).

Allison, Lewis J. The development of hurricane Inez, 1966, as shown by satellite nighttime radiometric and daytime television coverage. Goddard Space Flight Center. Greenbelt, Maryland, 1972. https://ntrs.nasa.gov/api/citations/19730010889/downloads/19730010889.pdf

Amann, Charles A., and Donald C. Siegla. "Diesel particulates—what they are and why." Aerosol Science and Technology 1, no. 1 (1981): 73-101.

Anderson, DL, de Boer, HG and Portier, KM, "Identification of nutritional and environmental factors affecting sugar cane production in Barbados." Communications in soil science and plant analysis 26 (17-18) (1995) 2887–2901.

Atallah, Eyad H., and Lance F. Bosart. "The extratropical transition and precipitation distribution of Hurricane Floyd (1999)." Monthly Weather Review 131, no. 6 (2003): 1063-1081.

Baban, Serwan MJ, and Kamal J. Sant. "Mapping landslide susceptibility for the Caribbean island of Tobago using GIS, multi-criteria evaluation techniques with a varied weighted approach." Caribbean Journal of Earth Science 38 (2005): 11-20.

Baes, C. F., H. E. Goeller, J. S. Olson, and R. M. Rotty. "Carbon Dioxide and Climate: The Uncontrolled Experiment: Possibly severe consequences of growing CO 2 release from fossil fuels require a much better understanding of the carbon cycle, climate change, and the resulting impacts on the atmosphere." American Scientist 65, no. 3 (1977): 310-320.

Bai, Yu, Lin Luo, and Ester van der Voet. "Life cycle assessment of switchgrass-derived ethanol as transport fuel." The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 15, no. 5 (2010): 468-477.

Barbados Division of Energy Team. Barbados National Energy Policy 2019 –2030, 2019. https://www.smartenergybarbaddos.com

Barbados Ministry of Transport, Works and Maintenance. "List of Vehicles in Barbados." (2020). Unpublished

Barbados Statistical Service, Gross Domestic Product by Industry 2006-2017.

Barsky, Robert B., and Lutz Kilian. "Oil and the Macroeconomy since the 1970s." Journal of Economic Perspectives 18, no. 4 (2004): 115-134.

Bernstein, Lenny, Peter Bosch, Osvaldo Canziani, Zhenlin Chen, Renate Christ, and K. Riahi. "IPCC, 2007: climate change 2007: synthesis report." (2008).

Benson, Charlotte, Edward Clay, Franklyn V. Michael, and Alastair W. Robertson. "Dominica: Natural disasters and economic development in a small island state." (2001).

Beven, Jack. "Preliminary Report: Hurricane Dennis 24 August-7 September 1999. National Hurricane Center." (2000).

Beven, John L. "Tropical cyclone report: Hurricane Frances; 25 August-8 September 2004." NOAA Rep. [Available online at http://www.nhc.noaa.gov/2004frances.shtml.] (2004).

Beven, John L., Stacy R. Stewart, Miles B. Lawrence, Lixion A. Avila, James L. Franklin, and Richard J. Pasch. "Annual summary: Atlantic hurricane season of 2001." Monthly Weather Review 131, no. 7 (2003): 1454-1484.

Blanco, Maria Elvia Dominguez. "Horizontes vitales en jóvenes universitarios. Trayectorias y planes de vida." Katharsis 26 (2018): 87-105.

Boarnet, Marlon G. "Business losses, transportation damage and the Northridge Earthquake." Journal of Transportation and Statistics 1, no. 2 (1998): 49-64.

Bordelanne, Olivier, Micheline Montero, Frédérique Bravin, Anne Prieur-Vernat, Olga Oliveti-Selmi, Hélène Pierre, Marion Papadopoulo, and Thomas Muller. "Biomethane CNG hybrid: A reduction by more than 80% of the greenhouse gases emissions compared to gasoline." Journal of Natural Gas Science and Engineering 3, no. 5 (2011): 617-624.

Bramley, R. G. V., N. Ellis, R. O. Nable, and A. L. Garside. "Changes in soil chemical properties under long-term sugar cane monoculture and their possible role in sugar yield decline." Soil Research 34, no. 6 (1996): 967-984.

Braun, Scott A., Michael T. Montgomery, Kevin J. Mallen, and Paul D. Reasor. "Simulation and interpretation of the genesis of Tropical Storm Gert (2005) as part of the NASA Tropical Cloud Systems and Processes Experiment." Journal of the atmospheric sciences 67, no. 4 (2010): 999-1025.

Brinkman, Marnix LJ, Marcelo P. da Cunha, Sanne Heijnen, Birka Wicke, Joaquim JM Guilhoto, Arnaldo Walter, André PC Faaij, and Floor van der Hilst. "Interregional assessment of socio-economic effects of sugarcane ethanol production in Brazil." Renewable and sustainable energy reviews 88 (2018): 347-362.

Browne, James, Abdul-Sattar Nizami, T. Thamsiriroj, and Jerry D. Murphy. "Assessing the cost of biofuel production with increasing penetration of the transport fuel market: A case study of gaseous biomethane in Ireland." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 15, no. 9 (2011): 4537-4547.

Buratti, C., M. Barbanera, and F. Fantozzi. "Assessment of GHG emissions of biomethane from energy cereal crops in Umbria, Italy." Applied energy 108 (2013): 128-136.

Carroll Ph D, Joshua, Allison Brennan, Ashley Huff, and Mary Kate Thornburg. "Effects of Climate Change on Tourism in the Mid-Atlantic." Journal of Tourism Insights 9, no. 1 (2019): 1.

Cashman, Adrian, Janice Cumberbatch, and Winston Moore. "The effects of climate change on tourism in small states: evidence from the Barbados case." Tourism Review (2012).

Casas-Beltrán, Diego Armando, Courtney Maloof Gallaher, Emely Hernandez Yac, Karelys Febles Moreno, Kenneth Voglesonger, Rosa María Leal-Bautista, and Melissa Lenczewski. "Seaweed Invasion! Temporal Changes in Beach Conditions Lead to Increasing Cenote Usage and Contamination in the Riviera Maya." Sustainability 12, no. 6 (2020): 2474.

Chandra, R., V. K. Vijay, P. M. V. Subbarao, and T. K. Khura. "Performance evaluation of a constant speed IC engine on CNG, methane enriched biogas and biogas." Applied Energy 88, no. 11 (2011): 3969-3977. Chen, Xiao, and Jian Zhong Xu. "Structural failure analysis of wind turbines impacted by super typhoon Usagi." Engineering Failure Analysis 60 (2016): 391-404.

Cheng, Jun, Tao Li, Na Peng, Rui Huang, Jun-Hu Zhou, and Ke-Fa Cen. "Combustion dynamics of biodiesel produced by supercritical methanol transesterification." Fuel Processing Technology 131 (2015): 409-413.

Corrales, Julian, Hugo Alberto García, Alejandro Marín, and Mauricio Pereira Ordóñez. "OCENSA Oil Pipeline Damage due to the Construction of an Embankment for a Highway on Soft Soils: Case Study." In ASME 2017 International Pipeline Geotechnical Conference. American Society of Mechanical Engineers Digital Collection, 2017.

Cox, Felicia. " Exploration of bio-fuel technology for Barbados." Renewable Energy Development Lab, University of the West Indies, Cave Hill, Barbados, 2019.

Cruz, Ana Maria, and Elisabeth Krausmann. "Vulnerability of the oil and gas sector to climate change and extreme weather events." Climatic change 121, no. 1 (2013): 41-53.

Dada, Opeoluwa, and Charles Mbohwa. "Biogas upgrade to biomethane from landfill wastes: a review." In SMPM 2017 International Conference on Sustainable Materials Processing and Manufacturing, Kruger National Park, South Africa, 2017. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2351978916302451

DeGraff, Jerome V., R. Bryce, R. W. Jibson, S. Mora, and Cassandra T. Rogers. "Landslides: their extent and significance in the Caribbean." Landslides: Extent and economic significance 68 (1989).

Deville, Eric, and Alain Mascle. "The Barbados Ridge: A mature accretionary wedge in front of the Lesser Antilles active margin." In Regional Geology and Tectonics: Principles of Geologic Analysis, pp. 580-607. Elsevier, 2012

Diller, Dwain E. "Measurements of the viscosity of compressed gaseous and liquid methane." Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 104, no. 3 (1980): 417-426.

Dos Anjos, Nelson Da Franca Ribeiro. "Source book of alternative technologies for freshwater augmentation in Latin America and the Caribbean." International Journal of Water Resources Development 14, no. 3 (1998): 365-398.

Dolcy, Kohan, and Trevor Townsend. "Adoption and Development of Alternative Fuel Vehicles in Trinidad and Tobago." In 2020 The International Conference on Emerging Trends in Engineering and Technology, (IConETech-2020) Faculty of Engineering, The UWI, St. Augustine, 2020. http://conferences.sta.uwi.edu/iconetech2020/.

Dussadee, Natthawud, Kamoldara Reansuwan, and Rameshprabu Ramaraj. "Potential development of compressed bio-methane gas production from pig farms and elephant grass silage for transportation in Thailand." Bioresource Technology 155 (2014): 438-441.

Earthquake Track, "4.6 magnitude earthquake 67 km from Saint David's, Saint David, Grenada", (2019) https://earthquaketrack.com/quakes/2017-12-20-04-13-36-utc-4-6-52, Date Accessed = 2019-07-25.

Edghill, Joanna, and D. McGregor. "The case of Barbados: the role of electric vehicles in creating a sustainable and integrated energy system for small island states." (2014): 5-1.

Emanuel, Kerry. Divine wind: the history and science of hurricanes. Oxford university press, 2005.

Engerer, Hella, and Manfred Horn. "Natural gas vehicles: An option for Europe." Energy Policy 38, no. 2 (2010): 1017-1029.

Forrest, Thomas R. "Hurricane, Betsy, 1965; A Selective Analysis of Organizational Response in The New Orleans Area." (1979).

Fthenakis, Vasilis. "The resilience of PV during natural disasters: The hurricane Sandy case." IEEE 39th Photovoltaic Specialists Conference (PVSC), pp. 2364-2367. IEEE, 2013.

Gallagher, Paul W., Heather Brubaker, and Hosein Shapouri. "Plant size: capital cost relationships in the dry mill ethanol industry." Biomass and Bioenergy 28, no. 6 (2005): 565-571.

Gay, Destine, Tom Rogers, and Rebekah Shirley. "Small island developing states and their suitability for electric vehicles and vehicle-to-grid services." Utilities Policy 55 (2018): 69-78.

Genovese, Kieran. "Sustainability and automobiles: an online investigation into meanings associated to electric vehicles in automobile forums." PhD diss., 2020.

Gower, James, and Stephanie King. "Seaweed, seaweed everywhere." Science 365, no. 6448 (2019): 27-27.

Green, Jemma, and Peter Newman. "Disruptive innovation, stranded assets and forecasting: the rise and rise of renewable energy." Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment 7, no. 2 (2017): 169-187.

Hassell, Andrew, "Bio-Fuel Discussion", West Indies Rum Distillery, Factory visit (2019).

Hawkins, Harry F., and Stephen M. Imbembo. "The structure of a small, intense hurricane—Inez 1966." Monthly Weather Review 104, no. 4 (1976): 418-442.

Holder, Nikolai, Amiesha Persaud, Marilaine Mota-Meira, Jens Born, and Sarah L. Sutrina. "The influence of physico-chemical parameters, substrate concentration, and species variations on the biochemical methane production rates of ten tropical/subtropical grasses." Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 13, no. 1 (2019): 21-36.

Holder, Nikolai, Marilaine Mota-Meira, Jens Born, and Sarah L. Sutrina. "A compilation of the penetration of anaerobic digestion technology in 16 small-island developing states in the Caribbean region." Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining 14, no. 2 (2020): 493-502.

Holder, Nikolai, Marilaine Mota-Meira, Jens Born, and Sarah L. Sutrina. "New small scale bioreactor system for the determination of the biochemical methane potential." Waste and Biomass Valorization 10, no. 4 (2019): 1083-1090.

Howard, Stacia. "National energy efficiency monitoring report of Barbados." ECLAC (2020). https://repositorio.cepal.org/handle/11362/45053

Hussain, M., F. A. Deorsola, N. Russo, D. Fino, and R. Pirone. "Abatement of CH4 emitted by CNG vehicles using Pd-SBA-15 and Pd-KIT-6 catalysts." Fuel 149 (2015): 2-7.

IRENA, Organised, and UN DESA. "A new world: the geopolitics of the energy transformation." (2019).

Jamshidi, Omid, Ali Asadi, Khalil Kalantari, Saghi Movahhed Moghaddam, Farzaneh Dadrass Javan, Hossein Azadi, Steven Van Passel, and Frank Witlox. "Adaptive capacity of smallholder farmers toward climate change: evidence from Hamadan province in Iran." Climate and Development (2020): 1-11.

Jansen, Michael P. "The Cost of Converting a Gasoline-Powered Vehicle to Propane. A Practical Review Problem for Senior High School or Introductory Chemistry." Journal of Chemical Education 77, no. 12 (2000): 1578.

Jáuregui, Ernesto. "Climatology of landfalling hurricanes and tropical storms in Mexico." Atmósfera 16, no. 4 (2003): 193-204.

Jeswiet, J., and P. Nava. "Applying CES to assembly and comparing carbon footprints." International Journal of Sustainable Engineering 2, no. 4 (2009): 232-240.

Johnson, Caley, Anelia Milbrandt, Yi Min Zhang, James Hardison, and Austen Sharpe. Jamaican Domestic Ethanol Fuel Feasibility and Benefits Analysis. No. NREL/TP-5400-76011. National Renewable Energy Lab. (NREL), Golden, CO (United States), 2020.

Johnsson, Filip, Jan Kjärstad, and Johan Rootzén. "The threat to climate change mitigation posed by the abundance of fossil fuels." Climate Policy 19, no. 2 (2019): 258-274.

Junker, C., and C. Liousse. "A global emission inventory of carbonaceous aerosol from historic records of fossil fuel and biofuel consumption for the period 1860–1997." (2008).

Kahandawa, K. A. R. V. D., N. D. Domingo, Kenneth Sungho Park, and S. R. Uma. "Earthquake damage estimation systems: Literature review." Procedia engineering 212 (2018): 622-628.

Karatzos, Sergios, James D. McMillan, and Jack N. Saddler. "The potential and challenges of drop-in biofuels." Report for IEA Bioenergy Task 39 (2014).

Karmee, Sanjib Kumar, and Carol Sze Ki Lin. "Valorisation of food waste to biofuel: current trends and technological challenges." Sustainable Chemical Processes 2, no. 1 (2014): 22.

Keellings, David, and José J. Hernández Ayala. "Extreme rainfall associated with Hurricane Maria over Puerto Rico and its connections to climate variability and change." Geophysical Research Letters 46, no. 5 (2019): 2964-2973.

Keller, Edward A., and D. E. DeVecchio. "Natural Hazards: Earth's Processes as Hazards." Disasters, and Catastrophes (2016).

Kennedy, A. J. "Genetic base-broadening in the West Indies sugar cane breeding programme by the incorporation of wild species." Broadening the genetic base of crop production, (ed. Cooper, HD, Spillane C and Hodgkin P) pp (2001): 283-294.

Khan, Muhammad Imran, Tabassum Yasmin, and Abdul Shakoor. "Technical overview of compressed natural gas (CNG) as a transportation fuel." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 51 (2015): 785-797.

Kim, Seungdo, and Bruce E. Dale. "Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues." Biomass and bioenergy 26, no. 4 (2004): 361-375.

Koçar, Günnur, and Nilgün Civaş. "An overview of biofuels from energy crops: Current status and future prospects." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 28 (2013): 900-916.

Kossin, James P., Suzana J. Camargo, and Matthew Sitkowski. "Climate modulation of North Atlantic hurricane tracks." Journal of Climate 23, no. 11 (2010): 3057-3076.

Kwasinski, Alexis. "Effects of Hurricane Maria on renewable energy systems in Puerto Rico." In 2018 7th International Conference on Renewable Energy Research and Applications (ICRERA), pp. 383-390. IEEE, 2018.

La Rovere, Emílio Lèbre, André Santos Pereira, and André Felipe Simões. "Biofuels and sustainable energy development in Brazil." World Development 39, no. 6 (2011): 1026-1036.

Lawrence, Miles B., and Joseph M. Pelissier. "Atlantic hurricane season of 1981." Monthly Weather Review 110, no. 7 (1982): 852-866.

Lawrence. M, Cobb.H, "Tropical cyclone report: Hurricane Jeanne" (2005).

Liebetrau, Jan, Joachim Clemens, Carsten Cuhls, Carsten Hafermann, Jörg Friehe, Peter Weiland, and Jaqueline Daniel-Gromke. "Methane emissions from biogas-producing facilities within the agricultural sector." Engineering in Life Sciences 10, no. 6 (2010): 595-599

Marine Regions, "Barbados exclusive economic zone", http://marineregions.org/mrgid/8418 (2020).

Martinelli, Luiz A., and Solange Filoso. "Expansion of sugarcane ethanol production in Brazil: environmental and social challenges." Ecological applications 18, no. 4 (2008): 885-898.

Michael, Guiry. Sargasso Sea. The Seaweed Site: information on marine algae. Ireland 2020. https://www.seaweed.ie/

Maurer, Andrew S., Emma De Neef, and Seth Stapleton. "Sargassum accumulation may spell trouble for nesting sea turtles." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 13, no. 7 (2015): 394-395.

McCarthaig, S., "Ireland fined 5m plus daily penalty of 15,000 over landslides at Galway wind farm," The Journal. (2019) https://www.thejournal.ie/ireland-fined-eu-court-of-justice-wind-farm-4887792-Nov2019/

McFarquhar, Greg M., Brian F. Jewett, Matthew S. Gilmore, Stephen W. Nesbitt, and Tsung-Lin Hsieh. "Vertical velocity and microphysical distributions related to rapid intensification in a simulation of Hurricane Dennis (2005)." Journal of the atmospheric sciences 69, no. 12 (2012): 3515-3534.

McFarquhar, Greg M., Henian Zhang, Gerald Heymsfield, Jeffrey B. Halverson, Robbie Hood, Jimy Dudhia, and Frank Marks Jr. "Factors affecting the evolution of Hurricane Erin (2001) and the distributions of hydrometeors: Role of microphysical processes." Journal of the atmospheric sciences 63, no. 1 (2006): 127-150.

McKenzie, Brittany and Holder, Nikolai, and Henry, Legena, Bio-Methane Potential Test of Sargassum Seaweed with rum distillery waste, Unpublished, Lab experiment (2019).

Mendez-Tejeda, Rafael, and Gladys A. Rosado Jimenez. "Influence of climatic factors on Sargassum arrivals to the coasts of the Dominican Republic." Journal of Oceanography and Marine Science 10, no. 2 (2019): 22-32.

Menard, Kevin P., and Noah Menard. "Dynamic mechanical analysis." Encyclopedia of Analytical Chemistry: Applications, Theory and Instrumentation (2006): 1-25.

Merritt, B. "Calculating your car's co2 emissions". (2019). https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=D3pbB0Hex1Et=161s

Miltner, Martin, and Makaruk, Aleksander and Bala, Harald, and Harasek, Michael. Biogas upgrading for transportation purposes – Operational Experiences with Austria's first Bio-CNG fuelling station. Institute of Chemical Engineering, Vienna University of Technology, Vienna, Austria 2009.

Mincey, Sarah K., Mikaela Schmitt-Harsh, and Richard Thurau. "Zoning, land use, and urban tree canopy cover: The importance of scale." Urban forestry & urban greening 12, no. 2 (2013): 191-199.

Ministry of Energy and Water Resources, National Energy Policy for Barbados 2019 - 2030, Tech. rep., Government of Barbados (2019).

Mohee, Romeela, Sumayya Mauthoor, Zumar MA Bundhoo, Geeta Somaroo, Nuhaa Soobhany, and Sanjana Gunasee. "Current status of solid waste management in small island developing states: a review." Waste management 43 (2015): 539-549.

Moreira, N. "Biomethane as a substitute for Natural Gas." Digestion 20 (2016): 7.

Moore, Alvon. "Demand elasticity of oil in Barbados." Energy Policy 39, no. 6 (2011): 3515-3519.

Moore, Winston, Mika Korkeakoski, Jyrki Luukkanen, Laron Alleyne, Abdullahi Abdulkadri, Noel Brown, Therese Chambers et al. Modelling Long-Run Energy Development Plans: The Case of Barbados. No. 9403. EcoMod, 2016.

Morrow, Betty Hearn, and A. Kathleen Ragsdale. Early response to hurricane Marilyn in the US Virgin Islands. Natural Hazards Research and Applications Information Center, 1996.

Moulton, Alex A., and Mario R. Machado. "Bouncing forward after Irma and Maria: Acknowledging colonialism, problematizing resilience and thinking climate justice." Journal of Extreme Events 6, no. 01 (2019): 1940003.

Murray. R, "An introduction to biofuels in engineering", University of the West Indies, St. Augustine, Trinidad and Tobago, 2019.

Muteri, Vincenzo, Maurizio Cellura, Domenico Curto, Vincenzo Franzitta, Sonia Longo, Marina Mistretta, and Maria Laura Parisi. "Review on life cycle assessment of solar photovoltaic panels." Energies 13, no. 1 (2020): 252.

NASA Earth Observatory. "Hurricane Gustav." NASA. Last modified 2008. https://earthobservatory.nasa.gov/images/20404/hurricane-gustav

Nathaniel, Christian. "The implementation of a sustainable biodiesel industry in Trinidad and Tobago." Master's thesis, KTH School of Industrial Engineering and Management, 2012. https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:560334/FULLTEXT01.pdf.

National Petroleum Corporation. "Map of Natural gas pipeline in Barbados" (2021). Unpublished

Niles, Keron, and Bob Lloyd. "Small Island Developing States (SIDS) & energy aid: Impacts on the energy sector in the Caribbean and Pacific." Energy for Sustainable Development 17, no. 5 (2013): 521-530.

Ostrander, Gilman M. "The Colonial Molasses Trade." Agricultural History 30, no. 2 (1956): 77-84.

Papacz, Wladysław. "Biogas as vehicle fuel." Journal of KONES 18 (2011): 403-410.

Pararas-Carayannis, George. "Volcanic tsunami generating source mechanisms in the eastern Caribbean region." Science of Tsunami Hazards 22, no. 2 (2004): 74-114.

Parkin, Gene F., and William F. Owen. "Fundamentals of anaerobic digestion of wastewater sludges." Journal of Environmental Engineering 112, no. 5 (1986): 867-920.

Perkins, R. D., and Paul Enos. "Hurricane Betsy in the Florida-Bahama area: geologic effects and comparison with hurricane Donna." The Journal of Geology 76, no. 6 (1968): 710-717.

Pierro, Rachele, and Christian Aid. "Does Disaster Insurance have a Role in Climate Change Adaptation?" Time for Climate Justice 3 (2010).

Prowell, I., A. Elgamal, H. Romanowitz, J. E. Duggan, and J. Jonkman. Earthquake response modeling for a parked and operating megawatt-scale wind turbine. No. NREL/TP-5000-48242. National Renewable Energy Lab. (NREL), Golden, CO (United States), 2010.

Pourbafrani, Mohammad, Jon McKechnie, Heather L. MacLean, and Bradley A. Saville. "Life cycle greenhouse gas impacts of ethanol, biomethane and limonene production from citrus waste." Environmental Research Letters 8, no. 1 (2013): 015007.

Quinn, D. B. "Cyril Hamshere: The British in the Caribbean (Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1972, \$12.95). Pp. xvi+ 240.-Carl and Roberta Bridenbaugh: No Peace Beyond the Line. The English in the Caribbean 1624–1690 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1972, \$12.50). Pp. xxii+ 440." Journal of Latin American Studies 7, no. 1 (1975): 148-149.

Ramlogan, N. R., Patrick Mc Conney, and H. A. Oxenford. Socio-economic impacts of Sargassum influx events on the fishery sector of Barbados. CERMES Technical Report 81, 2017.

Rappaport, E. "Preliminary report Hurricane Andrew August 16-28, 1992." press, Mariner's Weather Log (1993).

Ravina, Marco, and Giuseppe Genon. "Global and local emissions of a biogas plant considering the production of biomethane as an alternative end-use solution." Journal of Cleaner Production 102 (2015): 115-126.

Rawlins-Bentham, J. "Sargassum: A national emergency and energy source. Barbados Government Information Service." (2018).

Repele, M., A. Paturska, K. Valters, and G. Bazbauers. "Life cycle assessment of bio-methane supply system based on natural gas infrastructure." Agronomy Research 12, no. 3 (2014): 999-1006.

Resiere, Dabor, Ruddy Valentino, Rémi Nevière, Rishika Banydeen, Papa Gueye, Jonathan Florentin, André Cabié et al. "Sargassum seaweed on Caribbean islands: an international public health concern." The Lancet 392, no. 10165 (2018): 2691.

Richardson-Ngwenya, Pamela. "A vitalist approach to sugar-cane breeding in Barbados: In the context of the European Union Sugar Reform." Geoforum 43, no. 6 (2012): 1131-1139.

Robinson, Danielle, and Ken Cruikshank. "Hurricane hazel: Disaster relief, politics, and society in Canada, 1954-55." Journal of Canadian studies 40, no. 1 (2006): 37-70.

Robinson, C. Justin, and Prosper Bangwayo-Skeete. "The Economic and Financial Costs of Climate Change in Small Island Developing States: Assessing the Effect of Hurricanes & Tropical Storms on Stock and Foreign Exchange Markets in Jamaica." Available at SSRN 3411742 (2019).

Rodgers, John C., and Douglas W. Gamble. "The impact of hurricane Frances (2004) on the invasive Australian pine (Casuarina Equisetifolia L.) on San Salvador Island, The Bahamas." The Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 135, no. 3 (2008): 367-376.

Ryckebosch, Eline, Margriet Drouillon, and Han Vervaeren. "Techniques for transformation of biogas to biomethane." Biomass and bioenergy 35, no. 5 (2011): 1633-1645.

Saldarriaga-Hernandez, Sara, Gustavo Hernandez-Vargas, Hafiz MN Iqbal, Damiá Barceló, and Roberto Parra-Saldívar. "Bioremediation potential of Sargassum sp. biomass to tackle pollution in coastal ecosystems: Circular economy approach." Science of The Total Environment 715 (2020): 136978.

Scarlat, Nicolae, Jean-François Dallemand, and Fernando Fahl. "Biogas: Developments and perspectives in Europe." Renewable energy 129 (2018): 457-472.

Schmidt, Matthias, Marie Gollsch, Franz Giger, Manfred Grün, and Marc Linder. "Development of a moving bed pilot plant for thermochemical energy storage with CaO/Ca (OH) 2." In AIP Conference Proceedings, vol. 1734, no. 1, p. 050041. AIP Publishing LLC, 2016.

Schubert, Lisa, Wendy Foley, Amy Savage, and Grace Muriuki. "Small Island Developing States, climate change, and food and nutrition security." Advanced Science Letters 23, no. 4 (2017): 3389-3392.

Seale, Richard, Four Square Rum Distillery Factory Tour and Discussion, Factory visit (2019).

Silva-Martínez, Rodolfo Daniel, and Alessandro Sanches-Pereira. "Organic waste to energy in Latin America and the Caribbean (Lac); state-of-the-art literature review." In Conference: 26th European Biomass Conference and Exhibition, At Copenhagen, Denmark, no. 26thEUBCE, pp. 149-165. ETA-Florence Renewable Energies, 2018.

Sims, Ralph EH, Hans-Holger Rogner, and Ken Gregory. "Carbon emission and mitigation cost comparisons between fossil fuel, nuclear and renewable energy resources for electricity generation." Energy policy 31, no. 13 (2003): 1315-1326.

Simoes, Alexander James Gaspar, and César A. Hidalgo. "The economic complexity observatory: An analytical tool for understanding the dynamics of economic development." In Workshops at the twenty-fifth AAAI conference on artificial intelligence. 2011.

Sharif, Arshian, Chaker Aloui, and Larisa Yarovaya. "Covid-19 pandemic, oil prices, stock market and policy uncertainty nexus in the us economy: Fresh evidence from the wavelet-based approach." Oil Prices, Stock Market and Policy Uncertainty Nexus in the US Economy: Fresh Evidence from the Wavelet-Based Approach (April 13, 2020) (2020).

Sheinbaum-Pardo, Claudia, and Belizza J. Ruiz. "Energy context in Latin America." Energy 40, no. 1 (2012): 39-46.

Shultz, James M., Duane E. Sands, James P. Kossin, and Sandro Galea. "Double environmental injustice climate change, Hurricane Dorian, and the Bahamas." New England Journal of Medicine 382, no. 1 (2020): 1-3.

Smith, Martin S., and John B. Shepherd. "Explosive submarine eruptions of Kick'em Jenny volcano: preliminary investigations of the potential tsunami hazard in the Eastern Caribbean Region." Ann's Trinidad and Tobago, October (1994): 11-15.

Stewart, Stacy R. "National hurricane center tropical cyclone report: Hurricane Matthew." AL14016. National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) (2017).

Tang, Kai, and Atakelty Hailu. "Smallholder farms' adaptation to the impacts of climate change: Evidence from China's Loess Plateau." Land Use Policy 91 (2020): 104353.

Tauseef, S. M., Tasneem Abbasi, and S. A. Abbasi. "Energy recovery from wastewaters with high-rate anaerobic digesters." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 19 (2013): 704-741.

The Latin American Energy Organization. Energy Outlook of Latin America And the Caribbean 2019. http://www.olade.org/en/publicaciones/energy-outlook-of-latin-america-and-the-caribbean-2019/. (2020)

Thompson, Terrell M., Brent R. Young, and Saeid Baroutian. "Advances in the pretreatment of brown macroalgae for biogas production." Fuel Processing Technology 195 (2019): 106151.

Tilche, Andrea, and Michele Galatola. "The potential of bio-methane as bio-fuel/bio-energy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions: a qualitative assessment for Europe in a life cycle perspective." Water Science and Technology 57, no. 11 (2008): 1683-1692.

Tsioliaridou, Elena, George Bakos, and NEBOJSA NAKICENOVIC. "Clean Fuels and Alternative Vehicles for Sustainable Development in Transportation." In Published Online by WEC (World Energy Council). [Online]. [Accessed 25/03/07]. Available from World Wide Web-< http://www. worldenergy. org/wec-geis/congress/papers/tsioliaridoue0904ys. pdf. 2004.

USAID. "Caribbean, Dominican Republic, Haiti-Hurricane Georges Fact Sheet 6." ReliefWeb. Last modified September 30, 1998. https://reliefweb.int/report/antigua-and-barbuda/caribbean-dominican-republic-haiti-hurricane-georges-fact-sheet-6.

Uusitalo, V., J. Havukainen, V. Kapustina, R. Soukka, and M. Horttanainen. "Greenhouse gas emissions of biomethane for transport: uncertainties and allocation methods." Energy & fuels 28, no. 3 (2014): 1901-1910.

Wadge, G. "A Miocene submarine volcano at Low Layton, Jamaica." Geological Magazine 119, no. 2 (1982): 193-199.

Wang, Mengqiu, Chuanmin Hu, Brian B. Barnes, Gary Mitchum, Brian Lapointe, and Joseph P. Montoya. "The great Atlantic Sargassum belt." Science 365, no. 6448 (2019): 83-87.

Winther, Morten, Flemming Møller, and Thomas C. Jensen. "Emission consequences of introducing bio ethanol as a fuel for gasoline cars." Atmospheric Environment 55 (2012): 144-153.

Wu, Liguang, Scott A. Braun, J. Halverson, and G. Heymsfield. "A numerical study of Hurricane Erin (2001). Part I: Model verification and storm evolution." Journal of the atmospheric sciences 63, no. 1 (2006): 65-86.

Wyman, Charles E., and Norman D. Hinman. "Ethanol." Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 24, no. 1 (1990): 735-753.

Zegarra, María Alejandra, Juan Pedro Schmid, Luis Palomino, and Bruno Seminario. "Impact of Hurricane Dorian in The Bahamas: A View from the Sky." (2020).

6. Appendices

Prevalence of natural disasters in the Caribbean region

We examine datasets on Haiti, Trinidad and Tobago, Barbados, Dominica, St. Vincent, Grenada, the Bahamas and Jamaica to present the prevalence of various forms of natural disasters occurring in each country in the period 1950 to present (Smith, Martin & John 1999, Emanuel & Kerry 2005, Braun et al. 2010, Lawrence, Miles & Joseph 1982, Beven et al. 2003, McFarquhar et al.2005, Serwan & Kamal 2005, Kahandwa et al. 2018, Allison 1972, Hawkins, Harry & Stephen 1976, NASA Earth Observatory 2008, Christian, Stewart & Stacy 2017, Robinson, Danielle & Ken 2006, Beven & John 2004, Bensen et al. 2001, Morrow, Betty & Kathleen 1996, Perkins & Paul 1968, Forrest & Thomas 1979, McFarquhar et al.2006, Beven 2000, Atallah, Eyad & Lance 1999, Alsiemer & Frank 2004, Lawrence & Cobb 2005, Rappaport 1993, Jaregui 2003 and Blanco & Maria 2018). We generate figures representing the distribution of these natural hazards in eight Caribbean nations, which are represented in Tables A.1 and A.2.

Country	Earthquakes	Hurricanes	Volcanic Eruptions	Landslides	Floods
Haiti	4	0	0	30,823	25
Trinidad and Tobago	4	1	1	3	6
Barbados	0	4	0	8	34
Dominica	5	4	1	294	12
St. Vincent	1	2	2	64	128
Grenada	0	6	12	13	15
Bahamas	0	24	0	NI	NI
Jamaica	2	8	1	NI	21

Table A.1: Tabulation of Caribbean natural hazards by the number of occurrences of each natural disaster in each of the study countries

Country	Storm Carib	NOAA
Haiti	9	4
Trinidad	1	0
Barbados	4	0
Dominica	5	3
St. Vincent	2	2
Grenada	5	2
The Bahamas	23	15
Jamaica	8	3

Table A.2: Number of hurricanes recorded in the study countries using two sources, Storm Carib, and NOAA (Allison 1972).





(a) Occurrences of natural disasters in Trinidad

(b) Occurrences of natural disasters in Barbados

Figure A.1: Occurrences of natural disasters in Trinidad (left) compared to Barbados (right). The location of some of the islands, such as Barbados and Trinidad, often allows them to be spared from the direct impact of hurricanes. However, they both experience some impacts of the passing hurricanes, particularly flooding, with added risks of storm surges, heavy rainfall, and destructive high winds.



(a) Occurrences of natural disasters in Dominica



(b) Occurrences of natural disasters in Grenada

Figure A.2: Occurrences of natural disasters in Dominica (left) compared to Grenada (right). Many islands experience landslides after hurricanes because of the over-saturation of the soils, especially in mountainous islands such as Dominica. In this study, the volcanic islands of Dominica, St. Vincent and Grenada were identified to have experienced volcanic eruptions within the period of 1950 to present. The islands of Trinidad and Jamaica have also experienced some volcanic activity from a mud volcano and a submarine volcano, respectively (Wadge 1982). Kick Em Jenny, a submarine volcano off the coast of Grenada has recently been the most active volcano in the region.



(a) Occurrences of natural disasters in Jamaica

(b) Occurrences of natural disasters in Haiti

Figure A.3: Occurrences of natural disasters in Jamaica (left) compared to Haiti (right). Haiti also experienced numerous landslides, because of the immense amount of deforestation that has taken place there. Without tree roots to bind the soil and to provide shelter from the direct impact of raindrops, the soil is then vulnerable and susceptible to landslides.



Hurricanes, 24

Hazards in The Bahamas

Landslides, 0

Volcanic Eruptions, 0

(a) Occurrences of natural disasters in St. Vincent

(b) Occurrences of natural disasters in the Bahamas

Figure A.4: Occurrences of natural disasters in St. Vincent (left) compared to the Bahamas (right).